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Mission Statement

To protect and support the interests of the sport of horseracing in general and, in 
particular, the interests of the owners by working through the Racing Association 
board of directors and management to ensure that every aspect of the racing  
industry realizes its greatest potential.

Photographs supplied courtesy of JC Photographics, Pauline Herman Photography and Bay Media
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A G E N D A

Notice is hereby given to the Members of The Racing Association NPC that the twentieth Annual General Meeting of the company 
will be held in the Hawaii Room, 3rd Floor, Turffontein Racecourse at 17h30 on Tuesday 11 December 2018 for the following 
purposes:-

1. To confirm the Minutes of the nineteenth Annual General Meeting held on Tuesday 12 December 2017, copies of which 
  accompany the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

2. To receive the Chairman’s Report for the year under review.

3. To consider the audited annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 July 2018, including the Directors’ report 
  and the report of the Auditors.  Copies of the audited annual financial statements accompany the Notice of Annual General 
  Meeting.

4. To authorize the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration for the past year and to appoint auditors for the coming 
  year.

5. To present the stakes for the forthcoming season

6. To announce the names of the directors who have been elected, as provided for in terms of Clause 21 of the Memorandum of 
  Incorporation, and who will assume office at the close of the Annual General meeting.

7. To transact such business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.  Members are invited to submit items for 
  discussion and inclusion on the Agenda by no later than Tuesday 27 November 2018.

8. VOTING AND PROXIES
 On a show of hands, every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote, and on a poll, every member present  
 in person or by proxy shall have one vote.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint  
 one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote on behalf of such member.  The proxy so appointed must be a member of the 
  Association in good standing.  Proxy forms, for use by members are attached to this notice. Duly completed and executed  
 proxy forms must be lodged at the registered office of the Company, by no later than the commencement of Annual General  
 Meeting.  No proxy form(s) will be considered once the Annual General Meeting has commenced.

 ____________________
                    CHAIRMAN

THE RACING ASSOCIATION NPC (Registration Number 1997/19092/08) (“The Association”)

NOTICE OF THE TWENTIETH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF MEMBERS OF THE RACING 

ASSOCIATION NPC TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018 AT 17H30 IN THE 

HAWAII ROOM, TURFFONTEIN RACECOURSE, JOHANNESBURG 

Notice of the Annual General Meeting
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MINUTES OF THE NINETEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
OF MEMBERS  OF THE RACING ASSOCIATION HELD AT 15H45 
ON TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017 IN THE HAWAII ROOM, 
TURFFONTEIN RACECOURSE 

PRESENT: 34 (As per the register)
APOLOGIES: 15

1. WELCOME

The Chairman welcomed Members and guests to the 
nineteenth annual general meeting of  Members of the Racing 
Association. 

2. INTRODUCTION

The Chairman informed the meeting that the proceedings 
at the annual general meeting are prescribed in the Racing 
Association Memorandum of Incorporation.

He welcomed Adrian Green and Brett Kaye who were in 
attendance representing the company’s audit firm, BRF and Co 
and Shane Rothquel representing “Levitt Kirson”, the company’s 
secretarial firm to the RA. 

He also welcomed the CEO of Phumelela Gaming and Leisure 
Limited, Rian du Plessis.
 
3. QUORUM FOR AN ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Chairman informed the meeting that 5 Proxy forms had 
been received from members who wished to be represented 
by proxy at this meeting. The directors accepted 5 proxy forms. 

Apologies from 15 members had been recorded.

He said that the number of members in good standing on the 
register is 1296.  He further advised that 39 members were 
present at this meeting in person or by proxy.  This represents 
3% of members entitled to be present and vote at this meeting.  
In terms of 15.3 of the Memorandum of Incorporation, 
20 members present in person or by proxy constitutes a 
quorum. The Chairman accordingly declared the meeting duly 
constituted. 

4. DEATHS

Before proceeding with the agenda, the Chairman asked 
members to be upstanding and observe a few moments 
silence as a mark of respect for the following members who 
had passed away during the year under review

Mr G L Ellis Dr C Hyams
Mr B Miskin Mr M Miskin
Mr D Reddy Mr A van Vuuren

5.  ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1 PROPOSES CONFIRMING THE  
 MINUTES OF THE EIGHTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL  
 MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 1 DECEMBER 2016 AS A  
 TRUE RECORD OF THE MEETING 

The Chairman invited members to make themselves heard on 
the proposal to pass Ordinary Resolution 1. 

Proposer: Mr J Stuart 
Seconder:  Mr A O’Connor

There were no questions from Members.

IT WAS RESOLVED that Ordinary Resolution 1 be adopted.

6. THE REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN FOR THE YEAR UNDER  
 REVIEW 

The Chairman said that the report of the Chairman had been 
available for some time.  He called for comments, questions or 
suggestions relating to the Chairman’s report.

There were no matters arising from the Chairman’s report.

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2 – TO CONSIDER THE AUDITED  
 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL  
 YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2017 INCLUDING THE REPORT  
 OF THE DIRECTORS’ AND THE REPORT OF THE AUDITORS’  
 THEREON.  THE AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 HAD BEEN INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The Chairman invited members to make themselves heard on 
the proposal to pass Ordinary Resolution 2. 

There were no matters arising from the Audited Annual 
Financial Statements for the Financial Year ended 31 July 2017.

Proposer:  Mr WGC Miller
Seconder:  Mr A O Connor

IT WAS RESOLVED THAT Ordinary Resolution 2 be adopted.

8. ORDINARY RESOUTION 3 – ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3  
 PROPOSES ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3 AUTHORISING THE  
 DIRECTORS TO FIX THE AUDITORS REMUNERATION FOR  
 THE PAST YEAR AND TO APPOINT THE AUDITORS FOR  
 THE COMING YEAR
 
The Chairman invited members to make themselves heard on 
the proposal to pass Ordinary Resolution 3. 

There were no matters arising regarding the authorising of 
Directors to fix the Auditors remuneration for the past year and 
the appointment of Auditors for the coming year.

Proposer:  Mr WGC Miller
Seconder:   Mr JJ van der Linden

Minutes of the AGM
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Minutes of the AGM (Continued)

KwaZulu-Natal Western Cape Highveld Eastern Cape Northern Cape

Stakes Meet-
ings

Stakes Meet-
ings

Stakes Meet-
ings

Stakes Meet-
ings

Stakes Meet-
ings

2007-2008 R 79 657 010 120 R 56 261 160 94 R 102 179 075 125 R 29 558 875 70 R 11 078 500 37

2008-2009 R 80 818 000 116 R 58 654 000 92 R 113 486 225 140 R 32 062 000 68 R 13 042 000 36

1% -3% 4% -2% 11% 12% 8% -3% 18% -3%

2009-2010 R 81 390 250 107 R 58 424 430 87 R 117 065 500 148 R 33 876 500 68 R 13 166 000 36

1% -8% 0% -5% 3% 6% 6% 0% 1% 0%

2010-2011 R 73 337 465 109 R 56 855 179 87 R 116 096 000 149 R 33 076 500 69 R 13 180 000 36

-10% 2% -3% 0% -1% 1% -2% 1% 0% 0%

2011-2012 R 73 417 785 106 R 53 892 270 86 R 118 893 625 148 R 32 553 000 68 R 14 325 000 36

0% -3% -5% -1% 2% -1% -2% -1% 9% 0%

2012-2013 R 84 912 075 99 R 54 343 070 81 R 126 626 000 146 R 34 478 000 66 R 14 143 000 34

16% -7% 1% -6% 7% -1% 6% -3% -1% -6%

2013-2014 R 95 254 750 100 R 61 436 675 78 R 133 769 000 144 R 37 644 000 67 R 14 886 450 34

12% 1% 13% -4% 6% -1% 9% 2% 5% 0%

2014-2015 R 95 839 950 110 R 69 419 000 84 R 140 218 500 144 R 40 867 000 71 R 14 786 000 34

1% 10% 13% 8% 5% 0% 9% 6% -1% 0%

2015 - 2016 R 112 346 000 122 R 68 795 000 83 R 145 449 500 147 R 42 419 000 72 R 15 002 000 33

17% 11% -1% -1% 4% 2% 4% 1% 1% -3%

2016 - 2017 R 110 645 775 115 R 92 149 275 84 R 148 861 400 147 R 44 459 000 71 R 16 785 775 33

-1,5% -6% 33,9% 1% 2,3% 0% 4,8% -1% 11,9% 0%

2017 - 2018 R 116 956 769 106 R 93 057 000 82 R 155 434 473 145 R 45 670 000 71 R 18 378 000 36

5,7% -8% 1,0% -2% 4,4% -1% 2,7% 0% 9,5% 9%

Phumelela Stakes Budget

R219 482 473

9. STAKES PRESENTATION

Mr Wainstein presented the following stakes for the forthcoming season:

Take out from Stakes Pot
- Net contribution horse racing   30%

- Net contribution other sports   20%

- Bookmakers levies    30%

- Unclaimed dividends & fractions   30%

- Net lotto income    15% 

- Net LPM income    15%

- Net GC and international royalties SA product 30%

- Net share of IOM tote Limited income  30%

- Fixed odds     30%
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Minutes of the AGM (Continued)

Mr Wainstein pointed out that although turnovers had declined, 
the industry had managed to increase stakes.  Most of the 
increases for the new season will be allocated to maiden and 
maiden juvenile plates.  He pointed out that Gold Circle had 
increased overall stakes by 5% but the number of racemeetings 
programmed in KZN had decreased from 115 to 106.

Mr P White pointed out that stakes are increasing by single 
percentages, while training costs (cost to owners) increase 
annually by at least 10%.  Mr Wainstein said he is well aware of 
that but the Racing Association can only work on the take out 
from the stakes pot arising from tote turnover.  He expressed 
concern about the costs of maintaining horses as it is in the 
company’s interests to look after owners.  The Board is making 
every effort to alleviate the pressure brought to bear as a result 
of the economic situation and the high keep costs.

In response to a question from Mr Joannides, Mr Wainstein 
confirmed that that stakes pot    includes revenue from soccer 
bets and sports betting.

The Chairman said that the aim of the company is to provide 
stakes that will cover keep costs for the first year of ownership.  
He appealed to Members to communicate with the Board as 
regards what they want from the Board.  He welcomed any 
input and suggestions that could assist the Board in achieving 
the company’s objectives.

10. DIRECTORS

The Chairman reported that nominations were held for national 
and regional areas.

10.1  National

In terms of Clause 21.2 of the Memorandum of Incorporation 
of the Racing Association, Mr Wainstein and Mr Leaf resigned 
as national directors and offered themselves for re-election.

No nominations were received for election to the national 
board and therefore Mr Wainstein and Mr Leaf were returned 
unopposed.

The national Board comprises:
Michael Leaf
Peter Naidoo
Rob Scott
Larry Wainstein
Laurence Wernars
Grant Paddock Representing the Eastern Cape Chapter
Vidrik Thurling Representing the Western Cape Chapter

It was noted that Mr Miller would no longer be sitting on the 
Board due to the situation in the Northern Cape Chapter.

10.2  East Cape Chapter

In terms of Clause 25.1 of the Memorandum of Incorporation 
of the Racing Association, Grant Paddock and Jacques Strydom 
resigned.  Messrs Paddock and Strydom offered themselves 
for re-election.  No additional nominations were received and 
Messrs Paddock and Strydom were re-elected unopposed.

The Eastern Cape board is as follows:
Grant Paddock
Jacques Strydom
Mr Jan Peskens had tendered his resignation from the Board 
during the course of the year and was not replaced.

10.3  Northern Cape Chapter

RA Membership in the Northern Cape region has fallen below 
the required mark of 50 and as required in terms of the 
Memorandum of Incorporation, clause 23.3, this chapter shall 
cease to exist.  The remaining members will forthwith fall under 
the main board of the Racing Association.

10.4  Western Cape Chapter

In the Western Cape Chapter, in terms of Clause 25.1 of the 
Memorandum of Incorporation of the Association, Mr Vaughan 
Marshall resigned and being available, made himself available 
for re-election.  Mr Jonathan Snaith had been co-opted during 
the course of the year to replace Mrs Nancy Hossack who 
had resigned.  Messrs Marshall and Snaith were returned 
unopposed.

The Western Cape Board is as follows:
Vidrik Thurling
Justin Vermaak
Robert Bloomberg
Vaughn Marshall
Jonathan Snaith

The Chairman thanked all of the chapter committee members 
who have made an invaluable contribution to the regional 
committees.

11. GENERAL BUSINESS

The Chairman said that Members had been invited to provide, 
in writing to the Racing Association by no later than Tuesday 
28 November 2017, any item not on the agenda, which the 
members wished to discuss.  No items had been submitted for 
discussion.
 
11.1  Achievements during the year

The Chairman gave special mention to Larry Wainstein and his 
team for their sterling efforts in attending to the needs of all 
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Minutes of the AGM (Continued)

owners, and in particular RA members, not only in the Gauteng 
region but also in the Western Cape, Northern Cape and Eastern 
Cape chapters.

He stressed that communication between all stake holders 
in the industry is imperative and Mr Wainstein consciously 
endeavoured to contribute and co-operate with the stake 
holders to maintain, and where necessary grow our industry.  
The Board recognises the importance of their role required to 
act in the interests of the business and the sport of racing.   
On behalf of the Racing Association, the Chairman thanked 
Phumelela and the National Horseracing Authority who 
contributed towards the success of the industry.

The Chairman said that from a marketing and promotions 
perspective, Mr Wainstein was very much involved in the 2017 
Air Mauritius International Jockeys Challenge which was a 
resounding success.  Mr Wainstein is at this stage working on 
a number of initiatives that will entail reciprocity with local and 
international racing entities that will benefit RA members.

The past racing season has been very good and our Elevation 
Room has been well attended. I hope that you as our members, 
will continue to support your Association.

He said that once again, Mr Wainstein and his team at the 
RA played a significant role in the success of the 2017 Equus 
Awards where human and equine champions were honoured.    
The RA teams in Johannesburg, Cape Town and Port Elizabeth 
were also responsible for the provincial RA awards.  He thanked 
the sponsors who contributed towards the national and 
provincial events.

The Chairman thanked Messrs Scott, Naidoo and Wernars 
for their contribution.   He also thanked Vidrik Thurling, Grant 
Paddock and Cliffie Miller for their dedication to the needs 
of all associated with the Racing Association. The Chairman 
appealed to Members to communicate their requirements to 
the Board and management in order that they can deliver on 
the needs of the members.  At times the comments made on 
social media are not flattering.  It would be helpful that instead 
of using this medium to criticise, that Members give the Board 
the opportunity first to deliver on what the members want.

11.2  Life Membership

Mr Leoni said that this was his first meeting that he had 
attended as a Life Member.  He thanked the Racing Association 
for the honour that had been bestowed on him.

11.3  Impact of Steinhoff Losses

Mr St John Gray queried the impact of the Steinhoff losses 
on the Racing Association’s investment.  The Chairman said 
that the fact that we have a prominent owner in the news, 

it is understandable that people will be concerned and raise 
questions but this could apply to any member of the RA.  Mr 
Wainstein clarified Mr Gray’s question and stated that a report 
had been received from our investment advisors.  The exposure 
to Steinhoff International was 0,3% with Coronation and 0,8% 
with Foord.  He said that the decline had been minimal.

11.4  Certificates with PGL stakes pot

Mr St John Gray raised the question of what oversight is being 
instituted by the RA as regards Phumelela’s figures with the 
stakes pot.  Mr Wainstein said that Ernst and Young produce an 
audit certificate and they have done this for the past 10 years.

11.5  Appointment of Auditors

Mr Fred Heydenrych queried that with the recent poor track 
record of auditing firms, how does the Racing Association 
appoint auditors each year?  Mr Wainstein said that the 
company had selected BRF who are a smaller audit firm whose 
annual increases are minimal.  Mr Rothquel said that the 
appointment of auditors is put to members at every annual 
general meeting.  The appointment is subject to rotation and as 
far as he is concerned, the auditors are fully compliant.

12. THANKS AND CLOSE

In closing, the Chairman said on behalf of management and 
directors, he wished to thank the Members for their attendance.   
He reiterated that the Board has an open door policy and he 
encouraged Members to approach board members with their 
concerns.  He expressed his appreciation to members who 
have supported the RA directors by way of communicating to 
keep the Board informed of their requirements. 

Members were cordially invited to attend a cocktail party at 
the conclusion of the Meeting. The Chairman invited Members 
to take the opportunity to interact with the board members, 
and to share their thoughts about the sport and the racing 
experience.

The Meeting was declared closed at 17h20
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On behalf of the Directors of The Racing Association NPC (RA), 
I have pleasure in presenting the Annual Report, together with 
the Consolidated Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 July 2018.

The RA is a members’ association representing the interests of 
racehorse owners.  The RA aims to promote and advance the 
interests of members and the sport of racing and one of the 
Association’s key roles is ensuring that the stakes agreement 
with Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Ltd (PGL) is adhered to.   

1. RACING ASSOCIATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The following Directors held office during the year:-
- Michael Leaf
- Peter Naidoo
- Rob Scott
- Larry Wainstein
- Laurence Wernars
- Jonathan Snaith  -  WC Chapter Representative
- Grant Paddock -  EC Chapter Representative

Michael Leaf held the position as Chairman of the Racing 
Association during the current year. The Racing Association 
Directors served on the following committees during the year :-

Graded Races Standing
Committee 

L Wainstein

Membership Relations/
Communications

L Wainstein

Marketing Committee R Scott, L Wainstein, L Wernars
Finance and REMCO  M Leaf,  L Wainstein, L Wernars
Strategy Committee All directors
Jockeys Remuneration
Committee

M Leaf, L Wainstein, L Wernars

Industry Liaison L Wainstein, L Wernars
Trainer Liaison L Wainstein
SAETREK (Import/Export) L Wainstein, L Wernars
Programming M de Kock, S Tarry, J Soma,  

J Janse van Vuuren

The CEO serves on all the above committees and Mesdames 
Angie Basel, Penny Broodryk and Merle Parker serve on the 
Marketing Committee.  The committees will be restructured at 
the first Board/Strategy meeting scheduled in 2019.

1.1 Marketing Committee

Marketing committee projects:
• Annual Feature Race Calendar is being produced for RA  
 members
• Racing. It’s a Rush continue with their campaign to promote  
 the sport of racing.

• RA website update
• Entertainment of members who have runners in Grade 1  
 races
• Complimentary wine handed to RA members with winners  
 who are on course
• Bonus races

1.2  Industry Liaison

This committee constantly monitors matters of mutual 
interest of all sectors of the industry to ensure that racing and 
safety standards are maintained.  The following sectors are 
represented:
Racing Association
Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Limited 
 - Racing
 - Marketing
 - Hospitality
 - International/Publishing
 - Tellytrack
The National Horseracing Authority
Trainers
Jockeys
Breeders 
Grooms

The Industry Liaison Committee also operates in the Eastern 
Cape and Western Cape regions and the Committee has played 
a role in monitoring all matters pertaining to the sport of the 
industry.

2. MEMBERSHIP

Membership of the RA as at 31 July 2018 was 1367.  During 
the year, the following persons were granted life membership 
by the directors:

Mrs S A Gorton  Mr D Olivi
Mr T D Kung  Mr L M F Wernars
Mr M E Leaf  Mr H N Yutar
Mr S J Myburgh

3. ASSOCIATED RACING BODIES IN SOUTH AFRICA

3.1  The Thoroughbred Horseracing Trust

The persons elected by the board to represent the RA on the 
Trust are:
Mark Currie
Jessica Jell
Bradley Ralph
Barry Hendricks represents SASCOC on the Trust
Gideon Sam represents SASCOC on the Trust.  
There are currently two vacancies on the Trust and these are 
being dealt with as a matter of urgency.  It is with sadness 

Chairmans Report
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Chairmans Report (Continued)

that we record the death of Chris Gerber  who was Chairman 
of the Racing Trust.

4. STAKES VERSUS NUMBER OF RACEMEETINGS 

Mr Wainstein to present the stakes for the forthcoming 
season.

5. RACING ASSOCIATION FINANCIALS

The RA’s  income was R21 556 176 (2017: R19 231 709). 
Net loss for the RA as at 31 July 2018 was R14 168 347 
(2017: R15 321 240 profit).
The Group net loss before tax was R12 711 778 (2017: 
R15 170 590 profit)

5.1  Donation – National Horse Trust

In the year under review, donations of R378 000 were made 
to the National Horse Trust’s Highveld Horse Care Unit, which 
looks after the Gauteng and Free State regions. A further  
R185 915 was set aside for the Eastern Cape region.

5.2  Donation – Trainers’ Benevolent Fund

An annual contribution amounting to R552 679 was made to 
the Trainers’ Benevolent Fund which includes Gauteng and 
Eastern Cape Regions.

6. FEATURE SEASON AWARDS

6.1  RA Highveld Feature Season Awards

The RA hosted the annual RA Highveld Feature Season Awards 
in May 2018   The event took place in the Aquanaut Room, 
Turffontein Racecourse and our congratulations go to all the 
winners.  Coral Fever, owned by Colin Bird and Sylvia Vrska 
from the Robbie Sage stable received the Champion Horse of 
the Season Award while Mauritzfontein Stud (Nominee: Jessica 
Jell) walked away with the winning Owner of the Season Award.

6.2  Northern Cape Racing Awards
 
The annual awards for the FS/NC region were held in the 
Banqueting Room at Flamingo Casino on Friday 3 August. 
Francois du Toit was champion owner, while the horse of the 
season went to Red Special (owned by Francois du Toit and 
Stephanie Miller).  This is the second year in succession that 
Red Special achieved the champion horse trophy.  

6.3  Eastern Cape Racing Awards

The Eastern Cape Awards were held in the HB Christian 
Room, Fairview Racecourse on 1st September recognizing 
and awarding the best horses and industry stakeholders over 

the previous twelve months.  Star Burst Galaxy, owned by 
Messrs EA Braun and PS Loomes was awarded the Eastern 
Cape Champion Horse of the Year Award.   The Champion 
Owner Award was won by Mayfair Speculators (Nominee:  Mr 
D Brugman). 

6.4  Western Cape Racing Awards 

Oh Susanna, owned by Drakenstein Stud (Nominee: Mrs Gaynor 
Rupert) was awarded the Western Cape Horse of the Season 
at the 2018 Awards that were held at The Vineyard Hotel, 
Newlands on 8th August.   The Champion Owner of the 2018 
season went to Drakenstein Stud (Nominee:  Mrs GA Rupert).
                                                                                                                        
7. EQUUS AWARDS

The 2017/18 annual Equus Awards was hosted by Racing. It’s 
a Rush at Emperors’ Palace on Tuesday 15 August 2018 and 
co-ordinated by The Racing Association. The evening was a 
resounding success and we offer our heartiest congratulations 
to all the winners.  Drakenstein Stud (Nominee:  Mrs Gaynor 
Rupert) won the Champion Owners trophy as well as the 
Champion Horse of the Season Award withOh Susanna (Aus).

In addition to thanking our guests who give their support 
to this event, I wish to record a special word of thanks to 
the organizations who, along with the Racing Association, 
contributed towards the success of the evening, namely 
Emperors Palace
Gold Circle Racing
Kenilworth Racing
Avontuur Stud 
Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Limited
Thoroughbred Breeders Association

8. RA ENTERTAINMENT OF OWNERS IN MAJOR FEATURE  
     RACES

Throughout the season, The Racing Association hosted 
connections of runners in Grade I events who are either RA 
members or out-of-town visitors. We congratulate all the 
winning connections in those events and look forward to their 
continued support.
 
9. GENERAL

I record my special thanks to the RA Board as well as the CEO, 
Larry Wainstein and his team at the RA for their commitment 
and support.  Collectively, our aim is to continue serving our 
members and the industry to the best of our ability.
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Financial Statements - General Information

Country of incorporation and domicile  South Africa

Nature of business and principal activities  Advancing and promoting the sport of thoroughbred horseracing

Directors  ME Leaf
 MK Naidoo
 GW Paddock
 RT Scott
 JJ Snaith
 LA Wainstein
 LMF Wernars

Registered office  4th Floor, Aloe Grove
 Houghton Estate Office Park
 2 Osborne Road
 Gauteng
 2000

Business address  14 Turf Club Street
 Turffontein
 Johannesburg
 2140

Postal address  PO Box 74054
 Turffontein
 2140

Bankers  Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
 Investec Bank Limited

Auditors  BRF & Co.

Secretary  Levitt Kirson Management Services CC

Company registration number  1997/019092/08

Level of assurance  These consolidated financial statements have been audited in
 compliance with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act 71
 of 2008 of South Africa.

Preparer  The consolidated financial statements were independently compiled
 by: CA on the Way Proprietary Limited

Issued 9 November 2018
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008 of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the 
consolidated financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is their responsibility to 
ensure that the consolidated financial statements fairly present 
the state of affairs of the company and group (hereafter the 
“group”) as at the end of the financial year and the results of 
its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the Companies Act of South Africa and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible 
for the system of internal financial control established by the
group and place considerable importance on maintaining a 
strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet 
these responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to 
ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business 
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances 
is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the group is
on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be 

fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 
that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and 
explanations given by management, that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial 
records may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. However, any system of internal financial 
control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast for 
the year to 31 July 2019 and, in the light of this review and the
current financial position, they are satisfied that the group has 
or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all 
financial records and related data. The directors believe that all
representations made to the independent auditors during their 
audit are valid and appropriate.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing 
and reporting on the group’s consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements have been examined by 
the group’s external auditors and their report is presented on
pages 18 to 19.

The report of the directors set out on page 20 and the 
consolidated financial statements set out on pages 21 to 51, 
which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the directors on 9 November 2018 and were 
signed on their behalf by:

 Director                                                                                                   Director
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Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE RACING ASSOCIATION NPC 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion

We have audited the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 
of The Racing Association NPC set out on pages 21 to 51, which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 July 2018, 
and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
The Racing Association NPC as at 31 July 2018, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance 
with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of 
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and 
other independence requirements applicable to performing audits 
of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code 
and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the  as required by the Companies Act 71 
of 2008, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other 
information does not include the Consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to  
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,  

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of Consolidated Annual Financial Statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these Consolidated Annual Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.
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BRF & Co.
Brett Kaye
Partner
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)
Registered Auditors

09 November 2018
Johannesburg

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.
  
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Consolidated 
Annual Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.
  
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that 
supplementary information set out on pages 52 to 53 does not 
form part of the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements and 
is presented as additional information. We have not audited this 
information and accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the 
consolidated financial statements of The Racing Association 
NPC and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 July 2018.

1. Nature of business

The Racing Association NPC was incorporated in South Africa 
and is engaged in advancing and promoting the sport of 
thoroughbred horseracing in the interest of its members. The 
group operates principally in South Africa.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the 
group’s business from the prior year.

2. Review of financial results and activities

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South 
Africa. The accounting policies have been applied consistently 
compared to the prior year.

The operating results and state of affairs of the group and 
company are fully set out in the attached consolidated financial
statements and do not in our opinion require any further 
comment.

Registered office   4th Floor, Aloe Grove
   Houghton Estate Office Park
   2 Osborne Road
   Gauteng
   2000

Business address  14 Turf Club Street
   Turffontein
   Johannesburg
   2140

Postal address   PO Box 74054
   Turffontein
   2140

3. Directors

The directors of the company during the year and to the date 
of this report are as follows:

Directors   Changes
ME Leaf
WGC Miller   Resigned 12 December 2017
MK Naidoo
GW Paddock
RT Scott
JJ Snaith    Appointed 1 May 2018
LA Wainstein
LMF Wernars

4. Directors’ interests in contracts

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into in 
which the directors or officers of the group had an interest and
which significantly affected the business of the group.

5. Interest in subsidiary

Details of the company’s investment in subsidiary are set in 
note 9.

6. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which 
occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this 
report.

7. Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in 
the ordinary course of business.

8. Auditors

BRF & Co. will continue in office as auditors in accordance with 
section 90 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa.

9. Secretary

The secretary of the company is Levitt Kirson Management 
Services CC of:
Business address   Fourth Floor, Aloe Grove
   Houghton Estate Office Park
   2 Osborne Road
   Houghton
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Consolidated Statement of Financial  
Position as at 31 July 2018

The accounting policies and notes on pages 25 - 51 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 1 446 250 2 109 301 1 191 567 1 749 250
Investment property 8 195 800 000 194 128 927 - -
Investment in subsidiary 9 - - 100 100

197 246 250 196 238 228 1 191 667 1 749 350

Current Assets

Loan to group company 10 - - 77 332 621 77 320 821
Trade and other receivables 11 6 102 494 6 194 084 6 073 674 6 165 505
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

12 91 771 681 112 893 175 91 771 681 112 893 175

Current tax receivable 64 64 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 13 14 536 327 8 763 785 14 099 502 8 668 077

112 410 566 127 851 108 189 277 478 205 047 578

Total Assets 309 656 816 324 089 336 190 469 145 206 796 928

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Retained income 280 930 634 293 956 671 188 708 166 202 876 513

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Deferred tax 14 26 516 154 26 201 895 - -

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 1 540 490 3 083 603 1 091 441 3 073 248
Deferred income 16 669 538 847 167 669 538 847 167

2 210 028 3 930 770 1 760 979 3 920 415

Total Liabilities 28 726 182 30 132 665 1 760 979 3 920 415

Total Equity and Liabilities 309 656 816 324 089 336 190 469 145 206 796 928

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income

Revenue 17 16 578 915 15 620 078 16 553 915 15 595 078
Other income 18 240 000 240 002 240 000 240 002
Operating expenses 19 (17 947 005) (18 682 274) (17 706 618) (18 505 694)

Operating loss (1 128 090) (2 822 194) (912 703) (2 670 614)

Investment income 20 4 763 144 3 397 542 4 762 261 3 396 612
Fair value (loss) / gain (16 346 490) 14 595 521 (18 017 563) 14 595 521

Finance costs 21 (342) (279) (342) (279)

(Loss) / profit before taxation (12 711 778) 15 170 590 (14 168 347) 15 321 240

Taxation 22 (314 259) 42 182 - -
(Loss) / profit for the year (13 026 037) 15 212 772 (14 168 347) 15 321 240

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss:
Remeasurements on financial assets 
at fair value - (6 801 280) - (6 801 280)

Other comprehensive loss for the 
year net of taxation - (6 801 280) - (6 801 280)

Total comprehensive (loss) / income 
for the year (13 026 037) 8 411 492 (14 168 347) 8 519 960

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Equity

Retained income

R

Group

Balance at 1 August 2016 285 545 179
Profit for the year 15 212 772
Other comprehensive loss (6 801 280)
Total comprehensive income for the year 8 411 492
Balance at 1 August 2017 293 956 671
Loss for the year (13 026 037)
Other comprehensive income -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (13 026 037)
Balance at 31 July 2018 280 930 634

Company

Balance at 1 August 2016 194 356 553
Profit for the year 15 321 240
Other comprehensive loss (6 801 280)
Total comprehensive income for the year 8 519 960
Balance at 1 August 2017 202 876 513
Loss for the year (14 168 347)
Other comprehensive income -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (14 168 347)
Balance at 31 July 2018 188 708 166
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 23 (2 054 019) (8 398 034) (2 382 453) (8 456 487)
Interest income 20 1 207 655 985 567 1 206 772 984 637
Dividend income 20 3 555 489 2 411 975 3 555 489 2 411 975
Finance costs 21 (342) (279) (342) (279)
Net cash from operating activities 2 708 783 (5 000 771) 2 379 466 (5 060 154)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment

7 (40 172) (82 250) (40 172) (82 250)

Loan  (advanced to) / repaid by group 
company

10 - - (11 800) 25 980

Realisation of a portion of financial 
assets

12 3 103 931 6 785 729 3 103 931 6 785 729

Net cash from investing activities 3 063 759 6 703 479 3 051 959 6 729 459

Total cash and cash equivalent 
movement for the year

5 772 542 1 702 708 5 431 425 1 669 305

Cash and cash equivalent at the be-
ginning of the year

8 763 785 7 061 077 8 668 077 6 998 772

Total cash and cash equivalent at end 
of the year

13 14 536 327 8 763 785 14 099 502 8 668 077

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Accounting Policies

1.  Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for the measurement of certain 
financial instruments at fair value and incorporate the principal 
accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South 
African Rands.

Reference to the “group” in these accounting policies refer to 
the financial statements and consolidated financial statements,
except where stated otherwise.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period.

1.1 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
consolidated financial statements of the company and all 
investees which are controlled by the company.

Control exists when the company has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) 
over which the group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies generally accompanying shareholding of 
more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the group 
controls another entity. The group also assesses existence of 
control where it does not have more than 50% of the voting 
power but is able to govern the financial and operating policies 
by virtue of de-facto control.

De-facto control may arise in circumstances where the size of 
the group’s voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of other shareholders give the group the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies, etc.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date control ceases.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in 
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that 
is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. 

The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and
the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets 
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in 
equity.

When the group ceases to have control any retained interest in 
the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in 
profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the 
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This 
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation  
 uncertainty

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is required to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts represented in the consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement is inherent in 
the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could 
differ from these estimates which may be material to the 
consolidated financial statements. Significant judgements 
include:

Trade and other receivables and loan to group company
The group assesses its trade and other receivables and loan 
to group company for impairment at the end of each reporting
period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be 
recorded in profit or loss, the group makes judgements as to
whether there is observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial 
asset.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets 
(such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The 
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the group 
is the current bid price.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure 
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available 
to the group for similar financial instruments.
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Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment testing

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when 
events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the 
lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely 
independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there 
are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates
are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of 
assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value 
in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could 
materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a
number of economic factors.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income 
taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to 
deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred 
income tax assets requires the group to make significant 
estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash 
flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws 
in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and 
taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of 
the group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the 
end of the reporting period could be impacted.

Residual values and useful lives of assets

Residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are 
reassessed on an annual basis. Estimates and judgements 
in this regard are based on the historical experience and 
expectations of the manner in which the assets are to be used, 
together with the expected proceeds likely to be realised when 
the assets are disposed at the end of their useful lives. Such 
expectations could change over time and, therefore, impact 
both the depreciation charges and carrying values of tangible 
assets in the future.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits associated  
 with the item will flow to the group; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an 
item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income during the financial 
period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight 
line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated
residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have 
been assessed as follows:
Item     Average useful life
Furniture and fixtures   5 - 6 years
Office equipment    6 years
Trophies     Indefinite
Leasehold improvements   4 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each 
asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Leasehold improvements are capitalised only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the group, otherwise they are expensed.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is
depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit 
or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another
asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.4  Investment property

The company owns property that is held to earn long-term 
rental income and for capital appreciation.
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Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only 
when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that are
associated with the investment property will flow to the group, 
and the cost of the investment property can be measured
reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction 
costs are included in the initial measurement.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or service a 
property. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the investment property, the carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised.

Fair value

Subsequent to initial measurement investment property is 
measured at fair value representing the open market value
determined annually by external valuers/directors. Fair value is 
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
differences in the nature, location or condition of the specific 
asset. If this information is not available, the group uses
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less 
active markets or discounted cash flow projections. These
valuations are reviewed annually.

1.5 Investment in subsidiary

In the company’s separate consolidated financial statements, 
investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:
• the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given,  
 liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments  
 issued by the company; plus
• any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the  
 subsidiary.

1.6 Financial instruments

Classification

The group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into 
the following categories:
•  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
• Loans and receivables
•  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at initial
recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

The group classifies financial instruments, or their component 
parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability 
or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of 
the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value being included in profit or loss 
for the period.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss exclude dividends and interest.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of 
other income when the group’s right to receive payment is 
established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities (or portion thereof) are derecognised when 
the group’s obligation specified in the contract is discharged or
cancelled or has expired. On derecognition, the financial liability, 
including related unamortised costs, and the amount paid for
is included in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the group assesses all financial assets to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the group, significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the 
financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the 
financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall 
not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance 
account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss
within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, 
the write off is made against the relevant allowance account.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against operating expenses.

Loans to group companies

This includes a loan to the subsidiary and is recognised initially 
at fair value plus direct transaction costs at trade date.

The loan to group company is classified as loans and receivables 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value 
at trade date, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate 
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised 
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset 
is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
allowance recognised is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised
in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance
account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against operating 
expense in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value at 
trade date, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.

Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash on hand 
and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value at 
trade date.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Fair valuation of financial instruments

The group uses fair value measurements to record fair value 
adjustments to certain financial instruments and to determine 
fair value disclosures. Derivatives are financial instruments 
recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Additionally, from 
time to time, the group may be required to record other 
financial assets at fair value on a non recurring basis. These non 
recurring fair value adjustments typically involve application of 
lower of cost or market accounting or write-downs of individual 
assets. Information about the extent to which fair value is used 
to measure assets and liabilities, the valuation methodologies 
used and its effect on earnings is included in the note “Fair 
Value Measurements”.

1.7 Income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, 
recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect
of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 
periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
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Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions 
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised 
when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of 
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax 
losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis.

Income tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an 
expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to 
the extent that the tax arises from:
•  a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or  
 a different period, to other comprehensive income, or
•  a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other 
comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly 
to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged,
in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.8 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term 
on the same basis as the lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease liability. This
liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are 
incurred.

1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

The group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 
recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are 
estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a 
reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

1.10 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable 
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 
vacation, leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary 
benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in 
which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as 
an expense as the employees render services that increase
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, 
when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is 
recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive
obligation to make such payments as a result of past 
performance.

1.11 Revenue

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of 
services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the
transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting 
period. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably 
when all the following conditions are satisfied:
•  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•  it is probable that the economic benefits associated with  
 the transaction will flow to the group;
•  the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of  
 the reporting period can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to  
 complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering 
of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue shall be
recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that 
are recoverable.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable 
for goods and services provided in the normal course of 
business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value 
added tax.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the company’s 
right to receive payment has been established.

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised 
as revenue over the period during which the service is
performed.

1.12  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1  Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in  
 the current year

In the current year, the group has adopted the following 
standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure initiative

The amendment requires entities to provide additional 
disclosures for changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities. Specifically, entities are now required to provide 
disclosure of the following changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities:
• changes from financing cash flows;
• changes arising from obtaining or losing control of  
 subsidiaries or other businesses;
•  the effect of changes in foreign exchanges;
•  changes in fair values; and
• other changes.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2017.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 
2018 consolidated financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets 
for Unrealised Losses

In terms of IAS 12 Income Taxes, deferred tax assets are 
recognised only when it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. The following amendments have been made, 
which may have an impact on the group:

If tax law restricts the utilisation of losses to deductions against 
income of a specific type, a deductible temporary difference is
assessed in combination only with other deductible temporary 
differences of the appropriate type.

Additional guidelines were prescribed for evaluating whether 
the group will have sufficient taxable profit in future periods. 
The group is required to compare the deductible temporary 
differences with future taxable profit that excludes tax 
deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible 
temporary differences. This comparison shows the extent 
to which the future taxable profit is sufficient for the entity 
to deduct the amounts resulting from the reversal of those 
deductible temporary differences.

The amendment also provides that the estimate of probable 
future taxable profit may include the recovery of some of an 
entity’s assets for more than their carrying amount if there is 
sufficient evidence that it is probable that the entity will achieve
this.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2017.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 
2018 consolidated financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards 
and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 August 2018 or later periods:

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and 
measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty
over income tax treatments. Specifically, if it is probable that 
the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment, then 
all tax related items are measured according to the planned 
tax treatment. If it is not probable that the tax authorities 
will accept the uncertain tax treatment, then the tax related 
items are measured on the basis of probabilities to reflect the 
uncertainty. Changes in facts and circumstances are required to 
be treated as changes in estimates and applied prospectively.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019.

The group expects to adopt the interpretation for the first time 
in the 2020 consolidated financial statements.

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material impact 
on the group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, 
present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single 
lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets 
and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months
or less or the underlying asset has a low value. The lessor 
continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 
16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged 
from its predecessor, IAS 17.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019.
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The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 
2020 consolidated financial statements.

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed by 
management.

Transfers of Investment Property: Amendments to IAS 40

The amendment deals specifically with circumstances under 
which property must be transferred to or from investment 
property. The amendment now requires that a change in use of 
property only occurs when the property first meets, or ceases 
to meet, the definition of investment property and that there is 
evidence of a change in use. The amendment specifies that a 
change in management’s intentions for use of the property, do 
not, in isolation, provide evidence of a change in use.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 
the 2019 consolidated financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 
the group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 15: Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers

The amendment provides clarification and further guidance 
regarding certain issues in IFRS 15. These items include 
guidance in assessing whether promises to transfer goods 
or services are separately identifiable; guidance regarding 
agent versus principal considerations; and guidance regarding 
licenses and royalties.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 
the 2019 consolidated financial statements.

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed by 
management.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements 
for the classification and measurements of financial assets.
IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include 
requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 
to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting.
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 
mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial 

assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and 
measurement requirements by introducing a “fair value through 
other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI) measurement category 
for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:
• All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of  
 IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and  
 Measurement are required to be subsequently measured at  
 amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments  
 that are held within a business model whose objective is to  
 collect the contractual cash flows, and that have  
 contractual cash flows that are solely payments  
 of principal and interest on the outstanding principal  
 are generally measured at amortised cost at the end  
 of subsequent reporting periods. Debt instruments that  
 are held within a business model whose objective is achieved  
 by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
 assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial  
 asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are  
 solely payments of principal and interest on outstanding  
 principal, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt and  
 equity investments are measured at fair value at the  
 end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under  
 IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to  
 present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity  
 investment (that is not held for trading) in other  
 comprehensive income with only dividend income  
 generally recognised in profit or loss.
•  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities  
 designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS  
 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value  
 of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the  
 credit risk of the liability is presented in other comprehensive  
 income, unless the recognition of the effect of the changes  
 of the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income  
 would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit  
 or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change  
 in fair value of a financial liability designated as at fair value  
 through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.
•  In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS  
 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an  
 incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected  
 credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected  
 credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses  
 at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since  
 initial recognition. It is therefore no longer necessary  
 for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are  
 recognised.
•  The new general hedge accounting requirements retain  
 the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms  
 currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater  
 flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions  
 eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the  
 types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments  
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 and the types of risk components of non-financial  
 items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition,  
 the effectiveness test has been replaced with the principal  
 of an “economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment  
 of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced  
 disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management  
 activities have also been introduced.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 
2019 consolidated financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on 
the group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 18 
Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15
Agreements for the construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18 
Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue - 
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in accordance 
with that core principle by applying the following steps:
•  Identify the contract(s) with a customer
•  Identify the performance obligations in the contract
•  Determine the transaction price
•  Allocate the transaction price to the performance   
 obligations in the contract
•  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a  
 performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure requirements.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 
2019 consolidated financial statements.

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed by 
management.

Amendments to IFRS 9 - Financial instruments
The narrow-scope amendment covers two issues:
• The amendments allow companies to measure  
 particular prepayable financial assets with so-called  
 negative compensation at amortised cost or at fair value  
 through other comprehensive income if a specified  

 condition is met instead of at fair value through profit or  
 loss. It is likely to have the biggest impact on banks and  
 other financial services entities
•  How to account for the modification of a financial liability.  
 The amendment confirms that most such modifications  
 will result in immediate recognition of a gain or loss. This  
 is a change from common practice under IAS 39 today  
 and will affect all kinds of entities that have renegotiated  
 borrowings.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019.

The company expects to adopt the amendment for the first 
time in the 2020 consolidated financial statements.

Its is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact 
on the group’s consolidated financial statements.

3. Risk management

Capital risk management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 
the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide benefits for its stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as 
capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally 
imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
market risk (including interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk.

The company is not exposed to foreign exchange risk, as the 
company does not have any monetary assets or liabilities in 
currencies other than the company’s functional currency.

The company is not exposed to equity securities price risk 
because there are no investments held by the company and 
classified on the statement of financial position either as 
available-for-sale or at fair value through profit or loss.

The group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance. 
Risk management is carried out by a central treasury 
department under policies approved by the board. The board 
provides written principles for overall risk management.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet 
its financial obligations as they fall due. The group at all times
maintains adequate committed credit facilities in order to meet 
all its commitments as and when they fall due.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the 
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, group treasury 
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under 
committed credit lines.

The group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to 
cover future commitments. The group manages liquidity risk
through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit 
facilities.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the statement of financial position date to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 
12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of 
discounting is not significant.

Group
At 31 July 2018   Less than 1 year
Trade and other payables   736 957

At 31 July 2017    Less than 1 year
Trade and other payables   1 678 642

Company
At 31 July 2018    Less than 1 year
Trade payables    631 846

At 31 July 2017    Less than 1 year
Trade payables    1 670 197

Interest rate risk
The group’s interest rate risk arises from favourable bank 
balances.

At 31 July 2018, if interest rates on Rand-denominated 
favourable bank balances had been 1% higher/lower with all 
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would 
have been R 145 183 (2017: R 87 488) higher/lower for the 
group and R 140 815 (2017: R 86 531) for the company, mainly 
as a result of higher/lower interest income on favourable bank 
balances.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer 
or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations.

Credit risk arises from a loan to a group company, trade debtors 
and cash equivalents. The group only deposits cash with
major banks with high quality credit standing and limits 
exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. 
Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an
ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these 
ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, 
taking into account its financial position, past experience and 
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal 
or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Credit 
guarantee insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate.
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as 
follows:

Financial instrument Group - Group - Company - Company - 
2018 2017 2018 2017

Loan to group company - - 77 332 621 77 320 821
Trade and other receivables 5 924 623 5 744 014 5 895 803 5 715 435
Cash and cash equivalents (excludes cash on 
hand not subject to credit risk)

14 518 327 8 748 822 14 081 502 8 653 114

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)
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Levels of fair value measurements

Level 3

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets Note

Financial assets designated at fair 
value through profit or loss -  
designated
Listed shares      12 91 771 681 64 828 989 91 771 681 64 828 989

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss - held for trading
Listed shares      12 - 48 064 186 - 48 064 186

Total 91 771 681 112 893 175 91 771 681 112 893 175

4. Fair value information

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair 
value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the group can access at measurement
date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or 
indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables 
and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due 
to the short-term nature of trade receivables and payables. 
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at 
the current market interest rate that is available to the group for
similar financial instruments.
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Group - 2018

Loans and  
receivables

Fair value through 
profit or loss -  

designated

Total

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss - 91 771 681 91 771 681
Trade and other receivables 5 924 623 - 5 924 623
Cash and cash equivalents 14 536 327 - 14 536 327

20 460 950 91 771 681 112 232 631

Group - 2017

Loans and  
receivables

Fair value through  
profit or loss -  

held for trading

Fair value through  
profit or loss -  

designated

Total

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss - 48 064 186 64 828 989 112 893 175
Trade and other receivables 5 744 014 - - 5 744 014
Cash and cash equivalents 8 763 785 - - 8 763 785

14 507 799 48 064 186 64 828 989 127 400 974

Company - 2018

Loans and  
receivables

Fair value through  
profit or loss -  

designated

Total

Loans to group company 77 332 621 - 77 332 621
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss - 91 771 681 91 771 681
Trade and other receivables 5 895 803 - 5 895 803
Cash and cash equivalents 14 099 502 - 14 099 502

97 327 926 91 771 681 189 099 607

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

5. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
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Company - 2017

Loans and  
receivables

Fair value through  
profit or loss -  

held for trading

Fair value through  
profit or loss -  

designated

Total

Loan to group company 77 320 821 - - 77 320 821
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss - 48 064 186 64 828 989 112 893 175
Trade and other receivables 5 715 435 - - 5 715 435
Cash and cash equivalents 8 668 077 - - 8 668 077

91 704 333 48 064 186 64 828 989 204 597 508

Group - 2018

Financial liabilities at  
amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables 736 957 736 957

Group - 2017

Financial liabilities at  
amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables 1 678 642 1 678 642

Company - 2018

Financial liabilities at  
amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables 631 846 631 846

Company - 2017

Financial liabilities at  
amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables 1 670 197 1 670 197

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

6. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
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Group 2018 2017
Cost Accumulated 

depreciation
Carrying  

value
Cost Accumulated 

depreciation
Carrying  

value
Furniture and fixtures 836 668 (575 965) 260 703 835 673 (465 782) 369 891
Office equipment 1 339 651 (1 321 239) 18 412 1 300 474 (1 258 472) 42 002
Leasehold improvements 6 224 956 (5 992 821) 232 135 6 224 956 (5 462 548) 762 408
Trophies 935 000 - 935 000 935 000 - 935 000
Total 9 336 275 (7 890 025) 1 446 250 9 296 103 (7 186 802) 2 109 301

Company 2018 2017
Cost Accumulated  

depreciation
Carrying  

value
Cost Accumulated  

depreciation
Carrying  

value
Furniture and fixtures 309 830 (303 810) 6 020 308 835 (298 995) 9 840
Office equipment 1 339 651 (1 321 239) 18 412 1 300 474 (1 258 472) 42 002
Leasehold improvements 6 224 956 (5 992 821) 232 135 6 224 956 (5 462 548) 762 408
Trophies 935 000 - 935 000 935 000 - 935 000
Total 8 809 437 (7 617 870) 1 191 567 8 769 265 (7 020 015) 1 749 250

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2018

Opening balance Additions Depreciation Closing balance

Furniture and fixtures 369 891 995 (110 183) 260 703
Office equipment 42 002 39 177 (62 767) 18 412
Leasehold improvements 762 408 - (530 273) 232 135
Trophies 935 000 - - 935 000

2 109 301 40 172 (703 223) 1 446 250

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

7. Property, plant and equipment
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2017

Opening balance Additions Depreciation Closing balance

Furniture and fixtures 487 878 1 902 (119 889) 369 891
Office equipment 76 147 19 349 (53 494) 42 002
Leasehold improvements 1 630 810 60 999 (929 401) 762 408
Trophies 935 000 - - 935 000

3 129 835 82 250 (1 102 784) 2 109 301

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 2018

Opening balance Additions Depreciation Closing balance

Furniture and fixtures 9 840 995 (4 815) 6 020
Office equipment 42 002 39 177 (62 767) 18 412
Leasehold improvements 762 408 - (530 273) 232 135
Trophies 935 000 - - 935 000

1 749 250 40 172 (597 855) 1 191 567

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 2017

Opening balance Additions Depreciation Closing balance

Furniture and fixtures 22 459 1 902 (14 521) 9 840
Office equipment 76 147 19 349 (53 494) 42 002
Leasehold improvements 1 630 810 60 999 (929 401) 762 408
Trophies 935 000 - - 935 000

2 664 416 82 250 (997 416) 1 749 250

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection 
at the registered office of the group.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)
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Reconciliation of investment property - Group - 2018

Opening balance Additions Fair value  
adjustments

Closing balance

Investment property 194 128 927 - 1 671 073 195 800 000

Reconciliation of investment property - Group - 2017

Opening balance Fair value  
adjustments

Closing balance

Investment property 194 128 927 - 194 128 927

Name of company % Holding 
2018

% Holding 
2017

Carrying amount 
2018

Carrying amount 
2017

Randjesfontein Training Centre Proprietary 
Limited 100,00% 100,00% 100 100

The company holds 100 shares in Randjesfontein Training Centre Proprietary Limited, a company which holds investment property. 
The company is incorporated in South Africa and has a 31 July year end.

The carrying amount of the subsidiary is shown net of impairment losses.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

8. Investment property

Group 2018 2017
Valuation Accumulated  

depreciation
Carrying value Valuation Accumulated  

depreciation
Carrying value

Investment property 195 800 000 - 195 800 000 194 128 927 - 194 128 927

Details of property

Portions 357 and 359 of the farm Randjesfontein 405 and Portion 106 Olievenhoutbosch 389, Old Pretoria Road, Midrand. A 
register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at 
the registered office of the group.

Details of valuation

Valuations were performed at 31 July 2018 by an independent valuer, Haacke Associates, on the basis of open market value.

9. Investment in subsidiary

Company
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Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit
ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

Trade receivables fully performing

At 31 July 2018 R 691 836 (2017: R 302 513) for group and R 663 016 (2017: R 273 934) for company trade receivables were
fully performing.

Trade receivables past due but not impaired

Trade receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 July 2018, R 5 232 787
(2017: R 5 441 501) for group and R 5 232 787 (2017: R 5 441 501) for company were past due but not impaired.
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

1 month past due 229 259 (102 627) 229 259 (102 627)
2 months past due 530 964 1 927 095 530 964 1 927 095
3 months and longer past due 4 472 564 3 617 033 4 472 564 3 617 033

5 232 787 5 441 501 5 232 787 5 441 501

10. Loan to group company

Subsidiary

Randjesfontein Training Centre Proprietary 
Limited

- - 77 332 621 77 320 821

This loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed terms of repayment.

11. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 5 924 623 5 775 798 5 895 803 5 715 435
Impairment on trade receivables - (31 784) - -

5 924 623 5 744 014 5 895 803 5 715 435

Prepayments 177 871 447 570 177 871 447 570
Other receivables - 2 500 - 2 500

6 102 494 6 194 084 6 073 674 6 165 505

Split between financial and non-financial 
assets

Financial assets 5 924 623 5 744 014 5 895 803 5 715 435
Non-financial assets 177 871 450 070 177 871 450 070

6 102 494 6 194 084 6 073 674 6 165 505

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

3 months and longer past due - 31 784 - -

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of 
trade receivables

Opening balance 31 784 - - -
Provision for impairment - 31 784 - -
Amounts written off as uncollectable (31 784) - - -
Closing balance - 31 784 - -

Trade receivables impaired

As of 31 July 2018, trade receivables of R Nil (2017: R 31 784) for group and R Nil (2017: R Nil) for company were impaired
and provided for.

The amount of the provision was R Nil as of 31 July 2018 (2017: R 31 784) for group and R Nil (2017: R Nil) for company.

The ageing of the amount impaired is as follows:

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in other operating expenses in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is 
no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The group 
does not hold any collateral as security.

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

12.Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

At fair value through profit or loss - designated

Listed shares 41 320 776 59 590 458 41 320 776 59 590 458
Shares in Phumelela Gaming and Leisure  
Limited at market value as at year end.

Unit trusts 50 450 905 5 238 531 50 450 905 5 238 531
Unit trusts are held with Coronation Fund  
Managers and Foord Unit Trusts Limited

91 771 681 64 828 989 91 771 681 64 828 989

At fair value through profit or loss - held for 
trading
Listed shares - 48 064 186 - 48 064 186
Nil (2017: 2 763 898) shares in Phumelela  
Gaming and Leisure Limited at recoverable 
value as at year end.
Total other financial assets 91 771 681 112 893 175 91 771 681 112 893 175

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Listed shares

Opening balance 107 654 644 525 107 654 644 525
Interest received 364 976 99 019 364 976 99 019
Dividends received 3 305 662 1 955 147 3 305 662 1 955 147
Fair value adjustment through profit or loss (17 676 245) 14 416 941 (17 676 245) 14 416 941
Fair value adjustment through comprehensive 
income

- (6 801 280) - (6 801 280)

Additions during the year - 100 000 012 - 100 000 012
Disinvestment (52 213 098) (2 015 720) (52 213 098) (2 015 720)
Fees (62 727) - (62 727) -
Transfer of trading account to cash and cash 
equivalents

(52 436) - (52 436) -

41 320 776 107 654 644 41 320 776 107 654 644

Unit trusts

Opening balance 5 238 531 105 082 858 5 238 531 105 082 858
Additions 45 000 000 - 45 000 000 -
Dividends received 249 827 456 828 249 827 456 828
Fair value adjustment through profit or loss (341 318) 178 605 (341 318) 178 605
Interest received 303 865 662 153 303 865 662 153
Disinvestment - (101 141 913) - (101 141 913)

50 450 905 5 238 531 50 450 905 5 238 531

13.Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 18 000 14 963 18 000 14 963
Bank balances 14 518 327 8 748 822 14 081 502 8 653 114

14 536 327 8 763 785 14 099 502 8 668 077

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information about counterparty default rates.

Deferred tax asset

Assessable loss 38 082 53 403 - -
Income received in advance 83 188 - - -
Provisions - 7 806 - -
Total deferred tax asset 121 270 61 209 - -

The deferred tax asset and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and the law allows net settlement. 
Therefore, they have been offset in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liability (26 637 424) (26 263 104) - -
Deferred tax asset 121 270 61 209 - -
Total net deferred tax liability (26 516 154) (26 201 895) - -

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability

At beginning of year (26 201 895) (26 244 077) - -
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income

(314 259) 42 182 - -

At end of year (26 516 154) (26 201 895) - -

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

Credit rating

BB+ 14 518 327 8 748 822 14 081 502 8 653 114

14. Deferred tax

Deferred tax liability

Investment property (26 637 424) (26 263 104) - -

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

15. Trade and other payables

Trade payables 109 046 1 316 787 108 615 1 316 787
Amounts received in advance 558 475 - 261 375 -
Value added taxation 245 063 278 310 198 225 276 400
Payroll related accruals - 129 651 - 129 651
Accrued audit fees 135 190 117 095 125 510 108 650
Shares for staff - 997 000 - 997 000
Other payables 492 716 244 760 397 716 244 760

1 540 490 3 083 603 1 091 441 3 073 248

Split between financial and non-financial 
liabilities

Financial liabilities 736 957 1 678 642 631 846 1 670 197
Non-financial liabilities 803 533 1 404 961 459 595 1 403 051

1 540 490 3 083 603 1 091 441 3 073 248

16. Deferred income

Membership fees are invoiced annually in advance during the month of June, giving rise to deferred income receivable.

17. Revenue

Membership subscriptions 1 238 490 1 304 019 1 238 490 1 304 019
Rental income 25 000 25 000 - -
Nomination and acceptance fees 15 315 425 14 291 059 15 315 425 14 291 059

16 578 915 15 620 078 16 553 915 15 595 078

18. Other income

Administration fees 240 000 240 000 240 000 240 000
Other income - 2 - 2

240 000 240 002 240 000 240 002

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

19. Expenses by nature

Administration and management fees 465 279 466 107 465 279 466 107
Advertising and marketing 1 714 645 1 822 496 1 714 645 1 822 496
Auditors remuneration 159 395 128 550 149 660 119 750
Depreciation 703 223 1 102 784 597 855 997 416
Eastern Cape Chapter 815 206 744 174 815 206 744 174
Employee costs 5 941 455 6 479 107 5 941 455 6 479 107
Equine Health Fund - Contributions 921 750 1 265 249 921 750 1 265 249
Northern Cape Chapter 239 463 267 367 239 463 267 367
Other expenses 4 263 337 3 986 047 4 233 053 3 923 635
RTA Benevolent Fund contributions 399 559 437 186 399 559 437 186
Valuation fees 95 000 - - -
Website 625 123 548 417 625 123 548 417
Western Cape Chapter 1 603 570 1 434 790 1 603 570 1 434 790
Total operating expenses 17 947 005 18 682 274 17 706 618 18 505 694

20. Investment income

Dividend income

Listed financial assets 3 305 662 1 955 147 3 305 662 1 955 147
Unit trusts 249 827 456 828 249 827 456 828
Total dividend income 3 555 489 2 411 975 3 555 489 2 411 975

Interest income

Bank 538 814 224 395 537 931 223 465
Unit trusts 303 865 662 153 303 865 662 153
Listed financial assets 364 976 99 019 364 976 99 019
Total interest income 1 207 655 985 567 1 206 772 984 637

Total finance income 4 763 144 3 397 542 4 762 261 3 396 612

21.Finance costs

Bank 342 279 342 279

22. Taxation

Major components of the tax (income) / expense

Deferred

Originating and reversing temporary differences 314 259 (42 182) - -

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R



THE RACING ASSOCIATION NPC (Registration Number 1997/019092/08) (“The Association”) 48

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

22. Taxation

Major components of the tax (income) / expense

Deferred

Originating and reversing temporary differences 314 259 (42 182) - -

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting (loss) / profit and tax (income) / expense.

Accounting (loss) / profit (12 711 778) 15 170 590 (14 168 347) 15 321 240

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2017: 28%) (3 559 298) 4 247 765 (3 967 137) 4 289 947

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

Exempt operations 3 873 557 (4 289 947) 3 967 137 (4 289 947)

314 259 (42 182) - -

23. Cash used in operations

(Loss) / profit before taxation (12 711 778) 15 170 590 (14 168 347) 15 321 240
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 703 223 1 102 784 597 855 997 416
Dividend income (3 555 489) (2 411 975) (3 555 489) (2 411 975)
Interest income (1 207 655) (985 567) (1 206 772) (984 637)
Finance costs 342 279 342 279
Fair value adjustments 16 346 490 (14 595 521) 18 017 563 (14 595 521)
Movements in retirement benefit assets and 
liabilities

- (6 801 280) - (6 801 280)

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables 91 590 (1 697 948) 91 831 (1 802 459)
Trade and other payables (1 543 113) 1 761 319 (1 981 807) 1 761 165
Deferred income (177 629) 59 285 (177 629) 59 285

(2 054 019) (8 398 034) (2 382 453) (8 456 487)

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

24. Tax paid

Balance at beginning of the year 64 64 - -
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or 
loss

- - - -

Balance at end of the year -64 -64 - -
- - - -

25. Related parties

Relationships
Subsidiary  Randjesfontein Training Centre Proprietary Limited
Associated companies  Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Limited
 Kenilworth Racing Proprietary Limited
 The Thoroughbred Horseracing Trust
Directors  ME Leaf
 MK Naidoo
 GW Paddock
 RT Scott
 JJ Snaith
 LA Wainstein
 LMF Wernars

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Related party balances

Loan accounts - Owing by related parties

Randjesfontein Training Centre Proprietary 
Limited

- - 77 332 621 77 320 821

Amounts included in trade receivable regarding  
related parties
Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Limited 462 120 1 139 535 433 370 1 139 535
Kenilworth Racing Proprietary Limited 3 876 776 2 177 215 3 876 776 2 177 215

4 338 896 3 316 750 4 310 146 3 316 750

Amounts included in trade payables regarding  
related parties
Kenilworth Racing Proprietary Limited 142 041 1 048 856 142 041 1 048 856

Related party transactions

Rent paid to related parties

Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Limited 61 124 56 596 61 124 56 596

Rent received from related parties

Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Limited 25 000 25 000 - -

Administration fees received from related parties

The Thoroughbred Horseracing Trust 240 000 240 000 240 000 240 000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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Non-executive

2018

Directors’ fees Total

WGC Miller 15 000 15 000
MK Naidoo 36 000 36 000
GW Paddock 37 800 37 800
JJ Snaith 11 925 11 925

100 725 100 725

2017

Directors’ fees Total

MK Naidoo 37 800 37 800
VW Nsele 15 000 15 000
GW Paddock 39 375 39 375

92 175 92 175

Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements (Continued)

26.Directors’ emoluments

Executive

2018

Emoluments Other benefits Total

LA Wainstein 2 944 854 - 2 944 854

2017

Emoluments Other benefits Total

LA Wainstein 2 619 707 390 000 3 009 707

27. Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

28. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.
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Revenue

Membership subscriptions 1 238 490 1 304 019 1 238 490 1 304 019

Rental income 25 000 25 000 - -

Nomination and acceptance fees 15 315 425 14 291 059 15 315 425 14 291 059

17 16 578 915 15 620 078 16 553 915 15 595 078

Other operating income

Administration and management fees 
received

240 000 240 000 240 000 240 000

Other income - 2 - 2

18 240 000 240 002 240 000 240 002

Other operating (loss) / gains 

Fair value (loss) / gains (16 346 490) 14 595 521 (18 017 563) 14 595 521

Expenses (Refer to page 39) (17 947 005) (18 682 274) (17 706 618) (18 505 694)

Operating (loss) / profit (17 474 580) 11 773 327 (18 930 266) 11 924 907

Investment income 20 4 763 144 3 397 542 4 762 261 3 396 612
Finance costs 21 (342) (279) (342) (279)
(Loss) / profit before taxation (12 711 778) 15 170 590 (14 168 347) 15 321 240

Taxation 22 (314 259) 42 182 - -
(Loss) / profit for the year (13 026 037) 15 212 772 (14 168 347) 15 321 240

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R

Detailed Consolidated Income Statement
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Operating expenses

Administration and management fees 465 279 466 107 465 279 466 107
Advertising and marketing 1 714 645 1 822 496 1 714 645 1 822 496
Annual general meeting 9 352 15 880 9 352 15 880
Annual awards dinners 161 834 296 327 161 834 296 327
Auditors remuneration 159 395 128 550 149 660 119 750
Bad debts 278 895 27 880 278 895 -
Bank charges 71 151 84 104 69 561 82 761
Brokerage fees 59 384 - 59 384 -
Depreciation 703 223 1 102 784 597 855 997 416
Donations 116 802 119 194 116 802 119 194
Eastern Cape Chapter 815 206 744 174 815 206 744 174
Election cost 3 500 11 627 3 500 11 627
Employee costs 5 941 455 6 479 107 5 941 455 6 479 107
Entertainment and travelling 370 360 411 162 370 360 411 162
Equine Health Fund - Contributions 921 750 1 265 249 921 750 1 265 249
General expenses 58 237 47 011 58 237 47 011
Insurance 43 250 42 532 43 250 42 532
Lease rentals on operating leases 141 167 108 096 141 167 108 096
Legal fees 62 925 160 568 62 925 160 568
Loss on disposal of financial assets - 156 438 - 156 438
Membership services 1 763 781 1 494 600 1 763 781 1 494 600
National Horse Trust - Contribution 366 000 351 000 366 000 351 000
Northern Cape Chapter 239 463 267 367 239 463 267 367
Printing and stationery 19 574 25 156 19 574 25 156
Professional fees 9 350 12 400 4 725 6 000
RTA benevolent fund contributions 399 559 437 186 399 559 437 186
Refreshments 39 708 41 814 39 708 41 814
Repairs and maintenance 300 751 294 773 276 682 267 984
SA Equine Trade Council 120 000 120 000 120 000 120 000
Secretarial fees 11 235 5 200 11 235 5 200
Security 37 490 - 37 490 -
Telephone, postage and courier 146 570 138 866 146 570 138 866
Trophies 72 021 21 419 72 021 21 419
Valuation fees 95 000 - - -
Website 625 123 548 417 625 123 548 417
Western Cape Chapter 1 603 570 1 434 790 1 603 570 1 434 790

17 947 005 18 682 274 17 706 618 18 505 694

Detailed Consolidated Income Statement

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Note(s) R R R R
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